THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001524

The Callawassie Island
Members Club, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

Ronnie D. Dennis and
Jeanette Dennis

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

January 19, 2015

Brian D. McDaniel
Law Office of Brian McDaniel, LLC
Post Office Box 2085
Beaufort, South Carolina 29901
(843) 379-5117
Attorney for Appellants

RECEIVED
JAN 26 2015
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2014-001524

Other Counsel of Record:

Minor, Haight & Arundell, P.C.
Ehrick K. Haight, Jr., Esquire
Stacey S. Collins, Esquire
P.O. Drawer 6067

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the Trial Judge err by failing to apply the proper legal standard in its' granting of the Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment.**
- II. **Did the Trial Judge improperly grant summary judgment where the Defendants presented more than a mere scintilla of evidence establishing a genuine issue of material fact as to:**
 - A. **There is a genuine dispute of material facts concerning the controlling documents which may govern the relationship between the parties and whether there exists a contractual relationship between the parties at all.**
 - B. **There is a genuine dispute as to the interpretation and application of the documents governing the relationship between the parties**
 - C. **Evidence of representations made to the Defendants which support their defenses and/or which present claims for the Defendants which would also mitigate damages if awarded**
 - D. **Evidence of damages incurred by the Defendants due to the actions and misrepresentations of the Plaintiff**
- III. **Did the Trial Judge, in granting summary judgment, fail to take all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the Defendants and rely upon findings for which there is no evidence in the record supporting such finding, or for which the evidence available contradicts the findings made.**
- IV. **Did the Trial Judge err in failing to properly apply law and the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act, including, among others, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-302(18), §33-31-610, and §33-31-621(e).**
- V. **Did the trial Judge improperly award damages to the Plaintiff, including the award of attorneys' fees and damages based upon an affidavit not served upon the Plaintiff, nor presented at the hearing,**

and upon which the Plaintiff was never allowed to cross-exam the Plaintiff.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a civil action filed by the Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. in Beaufort County Common pleas in which the Respondent/Plaintiff alleged breach of contract against the Appellants/Defendants. The claims arise from what the Respondent claims is a memberships owned by the Appellants in the Respondent Club, for which the Respondent (Club) is seeking monetary relief for unpaid dues, fees, assessments, and other charge accrued, plus interest and the costs of the action. The Appellants have asserted, among other things, that the Respondent's action against them is in violation of state law, is sought in violation of the controlling governing documents and contractual representations made to them, and that any damages claim should be offset by the amount of equity they have in their membership purchase and by the damages they have incurred in not being allowed to swap memberships with another member.

The Plaintiff in this action filed a motion for Summary Judgment which was heard before Judge Carmen T. Mullen (Hearing Judge) on November 8, 2013. The Hearing Judge granted the motion and awarded damages of \$51,131.76 for approximately three years worth of dues, fees and attorneys' fees. The Hearing Judge issued her order on January 15, 2014 and the Defendants timely filed and served a Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 273 -302). A hearing on the Motion to Reconsider was heard May 27, 2014 and the court issued an Amended Order

Granting Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Dennis' Motion to Reconsider on June 10, 2014.

Defendants/Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal in the instant case on July 3, 2014 seeking to have both the Order granting Summary Judgment of January 15, 2014 and the subsequent Amended Order of June 10, 2014 order amending the granting of the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying the Defendant's Motion to Reconsider reversed and asking that the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment be denied.

ARGUMENT

I. Did the Trial Judge err by failing to apply the proper legal standard in its' granting of the Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment.

“When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard applied by the [circuit] court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP.”

Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 121-22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011).

“Summary Judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law.” Id. at 122, 708 S.E.2d at 769; see also Rule 56(c), SCRCP. “to determine whether any triable issue of fact exists , the reviewing court must consider the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” McLaughlin v. Williams, 379 S.C. 451, 455-56, 665 S.E.2d 667, 670 (Ct.App.2008). To withstand a motion for

summary judgment, in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence. Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

The case law has clearly set forth that “[t]he party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 220, 616 S.E.2d 722, 730 (Ct.App.2005).” Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent’s case, ... the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial.” Id. (citation omitted.) (Froneberger v. Smith, 748 S.E.2d 625, 406 S.C. 37 (S.C.App. 2013)

In the instant case the Hearing Judge improperly shifted the burden of proof for the motion and in the Order¹ fails to apply the proper standard in making her determination to grant the Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment. In setting forth the standard of review utilized in this case the Hearing Judge fails to apply the standards set forth above but instead relies upon Gauld v. O’shaughnessy Realty Co., for the proposition that “A complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the [non-moving] party’s case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.” (Order of 6/10/14/ R. pp. 19-20). However,

¹ referring to the *Amended Order Granting The Callawassie Island member’s Club, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Dennis’ Motion to Reconsider* filed June 10, 2014, but also in as much as the Amended Order does not supersede the **Order Granting The Callawassie Island Members club, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgment** filed January 16, 2014 then Order also refers to that previous Order as well.

reliance on such a case in this instance is misplaced since such “failure of proof” refers to “an element essential to the party’s case **on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial**” (citing, Boone v. Sunbelt Newspapers, Inc. 347 S.C. 571, 579, 556 S.E.2d 732, 736 (Ct. App.2001) (Gauld v. O’shaugnessy Realty Co., 380 S.C. 548 (S.C.App. 2008), 671 S.E.2d 79, 85. In this case the burden of proof is first on the Plaintiff to prove that there is no genuine issue of fact as to each and every element of the cause of actions alleged by them. As will be further elaborated upon later in this brief, the Plaintiff clearly fails to do so. However, in this instance the Plaintiff bears the burden of proof in this case and not the Defendant, except perhaps as to those counterclaims asserted by the Defendant.

Likewise, our Supreme Court has recently made clear that virtually any evidence at all that demonstrates a dispute exists in the case is sufficient to require the denial of a summary judgment motion. Further, the burden of proving that no fact exists is upon the moving party (the Plaintiff) in this case so that the non-moving party is not denied an opportunity for the matter to be heard in full by a jury. As stated above, to withstand a motion for summary judgment in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a *mere scintilla* of evidence. Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009) (Emphasis Added). Applying the standard, as articulated by the Supreme Court, in the case would necessitate that the Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment in this case be denied.

The hearing Judge fails, not only to cite to the appropriate standard for summary judgment in her Order, but as the facts will demonstrate herein to follow, also fails to apply the “merè scintilla” standard of review disregarding the considerable evidence offered by the Appellants.

II. Did the Trial Judge improperly grant summary judgment where the Appellants presented more than a mere scintilla of evidence showing a genuine issue of numerous material facts;

A. Genuine dispute of material facts concerning the controlling documents which may govern the relationship between the parties, (the Order fails to indicate which documents it is applying) and whether there exists a contractual relationship between the parties at all.

The Appellants presented at least a mere scintilla of evidence as to a genuine issue of material fact refuting the claims of the Respondent with regard to which governing documents should be applied to interpret the relationship of the parties and whether the Respondent has a contractual relationship with the Appellants.

In this case the Respondent has contended that the Appellant’s 1999 purchase of a golf club membership in the Callawassie Island Club bound it to the 1994 Plan for the Offering of Memberships (Complaint/ R. p. 28), which they now contend would make the Appellant obligated under the Respondent’s governing documents following an alleged purchase of the assets of the Callawassie Island Club by the Respondent, though there is no reference to any document of the Respondent in the Complaint in this matter (R. pp. 27-31). Since filing of the

Complaint the Respondent has now claimed that the Appellants are also obligated as to the governing documents of the Respondent, but that has nowhere been set forth in the pleadings in this case, is in dispute, and is basis for denial of the Respondent's motion for summary judgment. It is fundamental that the Plaintiff in an action must establish that a contract exists in order to pursue a breach of contract claim. In summary judgment proceedings the Defendant need only show a mere scintilla of evidence that the issue is in dispute, as clearly is the case here.

The lack of clarity as to the nature of a possible contract between the parties is evidenced in the Order, where the Court appears to rely upon a range of different "governing" documents, taking versions of CIC and Respondent documents from various years without explanation and without ever making a finding as to which documents actually control the parties in the case. In many instances the Court references various documents which may be "governing" documents of one or more of the various entities that purport to have run the golf club located on Callawassie Island. However, in many of those references the documents are often not identified with any specificity, are not pertinent to these Appellants, and/or are inaccurate representations of the content of the referenced documents.

As noted, in 1999 the Appellants applied for membership in the Callawassie Island Club (an entity with a similar name as the Plaintiff) and paid an equity contribution of \$31,000.00 for that membership (R. p. 87). Although the Order further finds that the Appellants membership was transferred to the Plaintiff, there is **no evidence** in the record to provide proof for this assertion.

(Order/R. p 17). In fact, the Appellants never entered into any membership agreement with the Respondent but instead signed a Purchase Agreement with the Callawassie Island Club in October 1999 (R. pp. 73 and 87). Because the Respondent failed to evidence that a contractual relationship exists, their motion for summary judgment should be denied on that ground.

However, assuming arguendo, that the Defendants are members of the Respondent Club, the Court's Order makes reference to Club documents including General Club Rules of 2007, 2008 and 2009 as well as Plan for the Offering of Membership of 2001, 2007, 2008, 2012, By-Laws of June 29, 2001 (Order/ R. pp. 17-19) and the Callawassie Island Club Plan of April 1 1994 (The CIC Plan) (Order/ R. p. 16) but fails to identify what documents would control.

In granting summary judgment the Court relies upon language from the variously amended documents of the Respondent, without uniformity and without consistency. For instance, on page 4 (R. p. 18) the Order refers to the CIMC General Club Rules amended 2007, but does not give a basis for picking that version of the Club Rules, which is neither the version closest in time to when the Appellants joined the Callawassie Island Club, nor is it the most recent version of those Club Rules made by the Respondent. In fact earlier in the Order on page 3 (R. p. 17) the Court finds that the General Club Rules have been amended numerous times including the year prior, 2008, and year after, 2009. The reference to the 2007 Club Rules in the Court's Order is confusing and evidences that there exists an issue of fact as to which governing documents should apply to the case at hand.

Likewise, on page 4 (R. pp. 6 and 18) where the Order quotes from a version of the Plan of Offering of Membership it also does not provide a year for the document to which it quotes and it is believed that such documents was not entered into the record at the hearing, or only entered at the subsequent motion to reconsider hearing though the reference was there from the earlier summary judgment hearing.

Page 4 of the Order (R. p. 18) in the final paragraph finds that Article VI of the CIMC Bylaws grants certain powers but again this section does not reference what version of the Bylaws to which it is referring.

In the “Analysis” section of the Order at page 6 (R. p. 20) the Court finds that the contracts and “documents are unambiguous” but again does not specify what “documents” are not ambiguous nor does it specify what documents create the contract. By failing to do so, the Defendants are left with an inability to fully address the courts findings that those unspecified documents “clearly and consistently require a member to pay dues until his membership is reissued.” (R. pp. 20-21)

As another example, the Order also makes reference to unspecified “governing documents” found to “expressly bind a member to ongoing liability even if he is suspended, terminated, **or expelled.**” (Emphasis added)(R. p. 21).

The Court’s reference to a binding liability for an expelled² member is

² “Expelled” members are expressly defined in the 2001 Club Rules to no longer have membership after 4 months of suspension following automatically from delinquency (See 13.3.1 indicating “Any member whose account is not settled within the four (4) months period following suspension shall be expelled from the Club.” The Club Rules then go one to define “Expulsion” 14.1.5 and distinguish it from both “Suspension” 14.1.3 and “Termination” 14.1.4. The Club Rules at 14.2.3

particularly at odds with the language of the Club Rules (at 13.3.1 - 2001 version/ R. pp. 517-518) and is **not found in any** of the governing documents. The finding is, if not blatantly contradicted, at least arguably disputed by the governing provisions and the fact that the documents on record in the case do not “expressly” provide that an expelled member is bound for ongoing liability. This is significant because the Respondent wants to include expelled members as having ongoing liability, because the Respondents testified that they understood they would be expelled without ongoing liability and because evidence and argument was provided to support that belief, including : the 1) 2001 Club Rules 2001 13.3.1, (2001 Club Rules/ R. pp. 507- 520) 2) the depositions of the Appellants in which they claim they were told prior to purchasing the memberships that their liability was limited to 4 months; (R. Dennis depo/ R. p. 172, ln 13 – p. 173, ln 13; and J Dennis depo / R. p. 153, ln 13- p. 154, ln 14) 3) deposition testimony of the Club Director Ellen Padgett that in fact she also understood that members would face no more than 4 months of liability; (E. Padgett depo/ R. p. 119, ln 22 – p. 128, ln 20) 5) letters and evidence of other members being suspended with no further obligation (R. pp. 94 – 107) 6) testimony of Club Board members confirming no further obligation after expulsion (Norwood depo/ R. p 200, ln 2 –p. 201, ln 11; R. p. 204, ln 12 – p. 206, ln 23; Switzer depo/ R. p. 446; Carling depo/ R. p.130, ln 12 – p. 131, ln 10; R. p. 143, ln 12- p. 144, ln 11; R. p. 146, ln 1- 18; R. p. 146, ln 23 – p. 147, ln 4; R. p.

then discuss that members that have been suspended or terminated “shall remain liable for any unpaid account or membership dues, fees, charges and assessments and such member shall not be entitled to a refund of any part thereof paid by the member to the Club”. (R. pp. 517-518)

148, ln 6-10; R. p. 151, ln 6-13; Killian depo/ R. p. 227, ln 25 – p. 228, ln 8; R. p. 242, ln 3- p. 243, ln 16; and Padgett depo/ R. p. 119, ln 22- p. 128, ln 20) and 7) Club documents which evidence that the membership equity amount (\$31,000) would be the extent of any membership liability.

In this case, to be granted summary judgment, the Respondent has the burden of proof to establish that there is a contract and the terms of that contract are not in dispute. Certainly at least a mere scintilla of evidence exists as to whether these parties are in a contractual relationship and if so, as to the terms of the contract in this case are in dispute and the grant of Summary Judgment should therefore be reversed.

II. Did the Trial Judge improperly grant summary judgment where the Appellants presented more than a mere scintilla of evidence showing a genuine issue of numerous material facts;

B. There is a genuine dispute as to the interpretation and application of the documents governing the relationship between the parties

In its Order the Court avoids addressing the numerous provisions in the referenced “governing documents” which support the arguments of the Appellant and which would require that the motion for summary judgment be denied. The Appellant points to numerous provisions in the potential governing documents which evidence that the liability for “unpaid dues” ends after 4 month of delinquency by the mandatory process of expulsion; is limited to the amount of the equity membership, accrues against a membership not the member; violates

state law if enforced as advocated by the Respondents; and creates an unreasonable situation in which the Respondent could refuse to allow a person to ever terminate their membership obligations.

First, the 2001 Club Rules require expulsion after 4 months of an account being delinquent (See 13.3.1 indicating “Any member whose account is not settled within the four (4) months period following suspension **shall be expelled** from the Club.”(Emphasis Added) (2001 Club Rules 13.3.1, / R. p. 517) The Club Rules then go one to define “Expulsion” 14.1.5 and distinguish it from both “Suspension” 14.1.3 and “Termination” 14.1.4. (R. p. 518) The Club Rules at 14.2.3 then discuss that members that have been suspended or terminated “shall remain liable for any unpaid account or membership dues, fees, charges and assessments and such member shall not be entitled to a refund of any part thereof paid by the member to the Club” (R. p. 518). Please note that this is not applicable to members that have been expelled. As further proof the Appellant submitted deposition excerpts of the Respondent’s SCRCF 30(b)(6) designee Harmon Switzer and a past Board President of the Respondent, Karen Norwood, James Carling and Lindsay Cooler. These witnesses confirm that suspension is automatic after a delinquency of 3 months. (Norwood depo/ R. p. 200, ln 24 – p. 201, ln 1; Cooler depo/ R. p. 210, ln 1-5; R. p. 215, ln 5-25; Killian depo/ R. p. 230, ln 15 – p. 232, ln 24). Also, the past actions and policies of Respondent evidence that it does in fact expel members and acknowledge that they have no further obligations by way of letter “releasing you from further obligation” (R. pp. 94- 107; see Letter 11/13/02 to H Knearl / R. p.96; J. Carling depo/ R. p. 137, ln

11- p. 144, ln 25; R. p. 147, ln 12-25; L. Cooler depo/ R. p. 215, ln 5-25). Again, this is evidence that the documents in question are rightly understood to require expulsion when a member is more than 4 months delinquent and that use of the word “shall” established that expulsion after four months of suspension for account delinquency is mandatory. See South Carolina Depart. Of Highways and Public Transp. v. Dickinson, 288 S.C. 189, 191, 341 S.E.2d 134, 135 (1986).

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