THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
14th Judicial Circuit

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001524

The Callawassie Island Members
Club, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

Ronnie D. Dennis and Jeanette
Dennis,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Ehrick K. Haight, Jr., Esq. #2446
Stacey S. Collins, Esq. #73360
MINOR, HAIGHT & ARUNDELL, P.C.
Post Office Drawer 6067
Hilton Head Island, South Carolina 29938
(843) 785-8040

and:

Stephen P. Hughes, Esq. #2805
James Andrew Yoho, Esq. #100803
HOWELL, GIBSON & HUGHES, P.A.
P.O. Drawer 40
Beaufort, South Carolina 29901-0040
(843) 522-2400

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

The trial court, after carefully reading the documents as a whole and giving the language its plain meaning, concluded the Dennises had a clear and unambiguous obligation to pay ongoing dues until their membership reissued. (R.p. 8; R.p. 20). In so doing, the trial court correctly applied the cardinal rule of contract interpretation by ascertaining and giving legal effect to the parties' intentions as determined by the contract language. *McGill v. Moore*, 381 S.C. 179, 185, 672 S.E.2d 571, 574 (2009).

The clear and unambiguous meaning and consistent application of these provisions are underscored by the testimony of several CIMC Board members. Former Board member James Carling testified that the Club would continue to try and collect from individuals who simply tried to walk away from their obligations. (R.p. 148, lines 17-25). Former Board member Karen Norwood testified that expulsion meant a permanent loss of privilege (as opposed to a termination of obligations). (R.p. 206, lines

15-23). Longstanding Board member, Philip C. Kilian corroborated Ms. Norwood's testimony, stating "the underlying club documents require that membership in good standing be maintained by even a member who was expelled or suspended." (R.p. 240, lines 4-6). Even the Dennises' own witness clarified that surrender of a membership merely placed it with the Club for resale. (R.p. 222, lines 23-25).

Despite concerted efforts to manufacture ambiguities by reading various other sections of the governing documents in isolation, a contract must be read as a whole document so that ambiguity is not created by a single sentence or clause. *Id.* Whether or not the governing documents are ambiguous is a question of law for the court and does not present any genuine issue of material fact. *Id.* In the face of such clear and unequivocal language, the trial court's determination that dues continue to be the responsibility of a member until such time as his or her membership is re-issued was within the court's discretion, supported by the evidence, and should be upheld.

C. FAILURE TO PAY.

Having established (a) membership in CIMC, (b) an obligation to pay dues, and (c) that the membership had not been reissued; CIMC further presented evidence of the indebtedness owed in the form of its verified Complaint and Affidavits. (R.pp. 39; R.pp. 430-432; and R.pp. 433-441). The Dennises introduced no evidence challenging the correctness of the charges, other than to assert that through resignation, expulsion or termination they should be absolved of further liability. Rule 56(e), SCRCF provides: "When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set

forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.”

II. THE REQUIREMENT TO PAY DUES UNTIL REISSUANCE DOES NOT VIOLATE THE SOUTH CAROLINA NON-PROFIT CORPORATION ACT. AS IS THE CASE WITH NEARLY ALL PROPERTY OWNER ASSOCIATIONS, DENNISES NEED ONLY SELL THEIR PROPERTY AND MEMBERSHIP TO ANOTHER PARTY TO RELIEVE THEMSELVES OF FURTHER OBLIGATION AND THE FACT THAT THEY CHOSE NOT TO DO DOES NOT RENDER THE REQUIREMENT UNLAWFUL.

The Dennises point to S.C. Code Ann. §33-31-620, of the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act (the “Act”), for the proposition that assigning liability for continuing obligations post resignation is statutorily prohibited. The Dennises’ argument conveniently ignores subpart (b) to that section, which specifically obligates a resigning member to meet any obligations incurred or commitments made before the resignation. Likewise §33-31-621 reinforces the notion that members who are terminated or expelled remain liable for obligations or commitments made while members. The official comment to both sections makes the legislative intent patently clear. Members are to be held accountable for previously agreed upon continuing obligations, even beyond resignation.

In determining that these statutes permitted CIMC to charge dues until the membership reissued, the trial court correctly ascertained and effectuated the intent of the legislature. The court gave the words found in the statute their plain and ordinary

meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E. 2d 877, 881 (2011). "In construing statutory language, the statute must be read as a whole, and sections which are a part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect. Unless there is something in the statute requiring a different interpretation, the words used in a statute must be given their ordinary meaning. When a statute's terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning." *Anderson v. S.C. Election Com'n*, 397 S.C. 551, 556-557, 725 S.E.2d 704, 706-707 (2012), *citations omitted*.

The Dennises' contention that the trial court's ruling creates a "perpetual obligation" simply is not true. The Dennises need only sell their property along with their membership to terminate their contractual obligations. The Dennises readily acknowledge this fact in their brief, stating: "[t]he only other way in which a member could possibly attempt to terminate their membership with the Respondent Club is to sale (sic) a piece of Callawassie Island property...". To the extent the Dennises argue that members without property are unable to resign, such argument is irrelevant to this case as the Dennises' own property on Callawassie. Further, CIMC recognizing the difficulty faced by individuals without property to effectively re-sell their membership in the depressed market, made offers of settlement to those members who were otherwise in good standing. (R.p. 133, line 22 - p. 134, line 1). Ironically, these offers to concede are the very *inter vires* actions the Dennises' complain of as a basis for their breach of fiduciary claims.

The Official Comments to §33-31-620 recognize that a “member in joining the organization may promise to use its facilities or services for a specific period of time.” In this case, the specific period of time is “until their membership is reissued.” Such requirements are quite common, particularly in Beaufort County, where nearly all developments utilize non-profit corporations to collect dues for the maintenance of common areas and recreational amenities within their community. A fact the trial judge was intimately familiar with having heard a substantially similar case in the matter of *Davenport v. Dataw Island Owner’s Association, Inc.*, in which she upheld similar covenants, restrictions and mandatory membership provisions. (R.p. 326, lines 11-12). It is illogical to assert that S.C. Code Ann. §33-31-620, absolves homeowners from liability for dues incurred prior to sale under the rational that members of a not-for-profit corporation have a “right to resign at any time”. However, that is the tortured conclusion to be drawn from the Dennises’ reading of the statute.

The fact that the Dennises may have found it economically inconvenient to sell their property at 12 Spring Island Drive does not excuse their financial responsibilities. Nowhere in any of the governing documents are the Dennises guaranteed a profitable return on their investment. The 1994 Plan specifically advised that the memberships were for recreational purposes and not to be relied upon as an investment. (R.p. 456; R.p. 359, lines 22-25). No matter how disadvantageous the requirement may prove, in the light of today’s economic climate, the fact remains that allowing members to unilaterally resign without selling or transferring their membership to a new, dues paying, member, would have devastating consequences to all of the other members on Callawassie Island who rely upon a steady source of funding to maintain their amenities. It is clear from the

statutory language and comments that such an application is consistent with the stated purposes and intent of the Act.

III. THE DENNISES' AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AND COUNTERCLAIMS ARE INSUFFICIENT TO OVERCOME SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS THEY ARE PROCEDURALLY FLAWED, LACK THE NECESSARY ELEMENTS, AND ARE UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

A. COUNTERCLAIMS

The Dennises asserted two counterclaims against CIMC. The first, that CIMC breached a fiduciary duty, and the second, that CIMC made negligent misrepresentations upon which the Dennises relied to their detriment. The trial court disposed of the breach of fiduciary duty claim on procedural grounds as the claim: was not brought as a derivative action; failed to meet the specific pleading requirements of Rule 23, SCRPC; and was not set forth in a verified pleading. (R.p. 24).

Even in the absence of these procedural flaws, CIMC argued (R.pp. 269-270) that to the extent a duty was owed, the Dennises produced no evidence of a breach by CIMC. Following the analysis adopted in *Fisher v. Shipyard Village Council of Co-Owners, Inc.*, 409 S.C. 164, 760 S.E.2d 121 (Ct. App. 2014) the court "must resolve, as a matter of law, whether the law recognizes a particular duty." *Burnett v. Family Kingdom, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 183, 189, 691 S.E.2d 170, 173 (Ct. App. 2010). To the extent any duty was owed to the Dennises, it is to be found in the Non-Profit Corporation Act, S.C. Code Ann. §33-31-101, *et seq.*, which generally empowers a non-profit corporation to take all reasonable actions consistent with its governing documents. There is no evidence CIMC acted in contravention of its governing documents in this case. (R.p. 22). The Dennises'

allegations of voting irregularities and violations of the documents are red herrings. As the trial court acknowledged, the documents themselves allowed CIMC to make such changes without a vote. (R.p. 22). Further, as CIMC argued, any challenge based on the propriety or adoption of the amendments were barred by the statute of limitations. (R.p. 59; R.p. 347, lines 7-14).

Unlike the lower court in *Fisher*, the trial court in this case correctly applied the business judgment rule and determined that the actions complained of by the Dennises were *intra vires*. “In a dispute between the directors of a homeowners association and aggrieved homeowners, the conduct of the directors should be judged by the ‘business judgment rule’ and absent a showing of bad faith, dishonesty, or incompetence, the judgment of the directors will not be set aside by judicial action.” *Fisher*, 409 S.C. at 180, 760 S.E.2d at 129-130, *citing: Goddard v. Fairways Dev. Gen. P'ship*, 310 S.C. 408, 414, 426 S.E.2d 828, 832 (Ct. App. 1993); see also *Dockside*, 294 S.C. at 87, 362 S.E.2d at 874. (“[T]he business judgment rule precludes judicial review of actions taken by a corporate governing board absent a showing of a lack of good faith, fraud, self-dealing[,] or unconscionable conduct.”); *Kuznik v. Bees Ferry Assocs.*, 342 S.C. 579, 599, 538 S.E.2d 15, 25 (Ct. App. 2000) (“Under the business judgment rule, a court will not review the business judgment of a corporate governing board when it acts within its authority and it acts without corrupt motives and in good faith.” (internal quotation marks omitted)). “[T]he burden of proving good faith is not on the governing board; the burden of proving a lack of good faith is borne, rather, by those challenging the board's actions.” *Dockside*, 294 S.C. at 87, 362 S.E.2d at 874. The burden was squarely on the Dennises to show some evidence that CIMC acted without good faith and they failed to do so.

Summary judgment in favor of CIMC is also appropriate as to the negligent misrepresentation claim because CIMC could not have made a representation upon which the Dennises relied when purchasing their membership. The elements of a cause of action for negligent misrepresentation are: 1) a false representation made by CIMC to the Members; 2) a pecuniary interest by CIMC in making the statement; 3) a duty of care owed by CIMC to see that truthful information was communicated to the Members; 4) a breach of the duty owed by CIMC by failing to exercise due care; 5) justifiable reliance on the representation; and 6) pecuniary loss as a direct and proximate result of reliance on the representation. *Hurst v. Sandy*, 329 S.C. 471, 494 S.E.2d 847 (Ct. App. 1997). A false representation must be false at the time it was made. *GSM Dealer Services, Inc. v. Chrysler Corp.*, 32 F.3d 139 (4th Cir. 1994).

The Dennises acquired their membership in October of 1999. (R.pp. 27-28, ¶ 3; R.p. 38); R.p. 41, ¶ 2). At that time, the club was owned and operated by the Callawassie Island Club, which was controlled by the Developer. (R.p. 168, lines 16-21). CIMC did not come into existence until November 16, 1999, and did not take over the assets of the club until 2001 and therefore, the representations allegedly relied upon by the Dennises at the time of their purchase cannot be ascribed to CIMC. (R.p. 332, lines 13-14; R.p. 173, lines 8-16; R.p. 154, lines 10-14 and p. 155, line 23 - p. 156, line 2). When asked if she could recall any representations by CIMC, “No” was Mrs. Dennis’ reply. (R.p. 156, lines 20-25).

The 1994 Plan admonished members to “carefully read all the attached documents” and “consider seeking professional advice to evaluate these documents.” (R.p. 450), which the Dennises admit they received and read. (R.p. 180, lines 1-6).

Additionally, the Dennises' own witness, Sandra Aulton, affirmed that to the extent any representations were made by the Developer, they were never incorporated into the written documents. (R.p. 248, lines 7-15). Even when examined in the light most favorable to the Dennises, it is clear they cannot meet their burden. There was no representation by CIMC, no justifiable reliance and therefore no damage, no breach of duty by CIMC, and no pecuniary interest of CIMC. For these same reasons, the various affirmative defenses promulgated by the Dennises likewise fail.

IV. THE AWARD OF DAMAGES AND REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES WAS APPROPRIATE. IT WAS WITHIN THE TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETION TO ACCEPT AFFIDAVITS FILED PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF ARGUMENT AND DISTRIBUTED TO OPPOSING COUNSEL AT THE HEARING.

At the commencement of the hearing on November 8, 2013, CIMC's counsel tendered a Supplemental Affidavit of Jeff Spencer to the court and opposing counsel for consideration. (R.p. 330, line 24 - p. 331, line 2). The purpose of the supplemental affidavit was to bring current the dues owed by the Dennises as stated in the earlier affidavit filed with CIMC's motion for summary judgment. Although Rule 6(d), SCRCP directs that such supplemental affidavit be provided two (2) days prior to the hearing, the trial court has the discretion under Rule 6(b)(1) to permit a party to file at the hearing. Opposing counsel's failure to object further evidences a consent to the tendering of supplemental affidavit at the hearing.

Although not expressly mentioned, the attorneys' fee affidavit was also clocked in prior to the hearing and handed up to the trial court judge and opposing counsel. (R.pp.

430-432; R.p. 433-441). The Note to 1986 Amendment to Rule 6, makes clear the court is authorized to permit an act to be done after the expiration of time upon a showing of good cause. Good cause can be inferred by the need to provide a current and accurate statement of the attorneys' fees in the case and the trial court's acceptance and later ratification of the affidavit. Further, under Rule 61, SCRPC, the allowance, if error, proved harmless. Counsel for the Dennises raised the issue in his motion for reconsideration and was given the opportunity, at the hearing thereof, to question CIMC's counsel regarding the charges. (R.p. 389, line 20 - p. 390, line 3). Furthermore, as counsel for CIMC indicated at that hearing, the amount awarded proved to be an underestimate and if the matter were reconsidered, the charges would have been considerably higher. (R.p. 390, lines 4-6). In *GTE Sprint Commc'ns Corp. v. Public Service Comm'n of South Carolina*, 288 S.C. 174, 341 S.E.2d 126 (1986), the South Carolina Supreme Court held, "Where a party shows no prejudice, the error [if any], is harmless." *Id.* at 181, 341 S.E.2d at 129.